FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/23/2022 10:33 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100947-0 Court of Appeals, Division I No. 823299 King Co. Superior Court Cause No. 19-2-32361-2

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

SVETLANA NATALICHEVA and GREGORY GRIDIN, and the marital community composed thereof,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

VS.

CITY OF REDMOND, WASHINGTON, a municipal corporation,

Defendant-Respondent.

•

PETITION FOR REVIEW

IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Svetlana Natalicheva and her husband, Gregory Gridin ("Natalicheva"), ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision below.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The City of Redmond cleared natural vegetation and created and maintained a grassy area for picnicking and other forms of recreation located in what the City itself describes as the "target zone" of cottonwood trees that are prone to Summer Limb Drop (SLD) in Idylwood Park. The City is well aware of the danger to park users in the target zone, describing it as a "safety concern" and a "high risk." The park is used by tens of thousands of people each year, but park users are completely unaware of the danger to themselves because the City created and maintained the area for them to use, provided no warning of SLD or the target zone, the trees outwardly appeared to be normal and healthy, and the target zone was not marked or otherwise apparent.

Like many people, Natalicheva took her children to Idylwood Park in the Summer of 2017, so that her children could go swimming in Lake Sammamish. Along with others, she sat in the recreation area created and maintained by the City in the shade of the cottonwood trees to watch her children swim. A large limb in one of the trees broke off due to SLD, fell into the target zone where Natalicheva was sitting, hit her on the head and shoulders, and caused her to suffer severe and permanently disabling injuries while her children were only a short distance away.

Natalicheva and her husband filed suit against the City to recover for her injuries. The City raised an affirmative defense of recreational use immunity and sought summary judgment on this defense. The City admitted that the condition of its park was dangerous and that it failed to warn park users of the danger. However, the City argued that it was nonetheless immune because the condition was not "artificial," "latent," or "known"

within the meaning of the limitation on recreational use immunity in RCW 4.24.210(4)(a).

The superior court granted the City's motion and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Natalicheva v. City of Redmond*, 2022 WL 896349 (Div. I, Mar. 28, 2022). Both courts ruled as a matter of law that the relevant "condition" was a falling tree branch in isolation from the recreation area created by the City in the target zone of trees prone to SLD, and that this condition was not "artificial" within the meaning of the recreational use statute.

A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is in the Appendix at A-1 through A-5. Natalicheva filed a timely motion to publish the Court of Appeals decision, and a copy of the order denying reconsideration is in the Appendix at A-6.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

On de novo review, are there genuine issues of material fact regarding the City of Redmond's affirmative defense of recreational use immunity? In particular:

- 1. Under the limitation on recreational use immunity in RCW 4.24.210(4)(a), the relevant "condition" is "the specific object or instrumentality that caused the injury, viewed in relation to other external circumstances in which the instrumentality is situated or operates." *Davis v. State*, 144 Wn.2d 612, 617, 30 P.3d 460 (2001). "Identifying the condition that caused [the plaintiff's] injury is a factual determination." *Van Dinter v. City of Kennewick*, 121 Wn.2d 38, 44, 846 P.2d 522 (1993). Must the relevant "condition" in this case be defined solely in terms of a falling tree limb? Or, could a reasonable jury conclude that the relevant condition is a recreational area created and maintained by the City in the target zone of a stand of cottonwood trees prone to Summer Limb Drop?
- 2. The limitation on recreational use immunity in RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) involves factual issues to be decided by a jury. *Ravenscroft v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 911, 926, 969 P.2d 75 (1998). Could a reasonable jury conclude that a recreational area created and maintained in the target zone of a stand of cottonwood trees prone to Summer Limb Drop is:
 - a. An "artificial ... condition" within the meaning of RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) because the area was transformed through human effort rather than the result of natural causes?
 - b. A "latent condition" within the meaning of RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) because the target zone is not marked or apparent, ordinary users are unaware of SLD, and the trees outwardly appear to be normal and healthy?
 - c. A "known ... condition" within the meaning of RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) because the City created the

condition and has actual knowledge of SLD and the target zone where SLD poses a danger to park patrons?

3. "Because recreational use immunity is an affirmative defense, the landowner asserting it carries the burden of proving entitlement to immunity under the statute." *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 693 (2014). Does an injured person have the burden to disprove a landowner's entitlement to immunity under the limitation on recreational use immunity in RCW 4.24.210(4)(a)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The City of Redmond cleared natural vegetation and created and maintained a grassy area for picnicking and other forms of recreation in the target zone of a stand of cottonwood trees that were known by the City to be prone to "Summer Limb Drop."

The City of Redmond owns and operates a park known as Idylwood Park on the shores of Lake Sammamish. CP 8-9 & 17. The Park is used by tens of thousands of visitors during the summer months alone. CP 146. There were 43,459 visitors in the summer of 2016, the year before Natalicheva was injured, and 40,982 in the summer of 2017, the year she was injured. *Id*.

Idylwood Park contains a number of large cottonwood trees, many of which "are in the most heavily trafficked areas of

the Park, including near the swimming beach" on Lake Sammamish. CP 158. The City identified "thirty cottonwood trees in high use areas of the Park[.]" CP 149. There was "a stand of black cottonwood trees" at the beach-side location where Natalicheva was injured, "18 of which were subsequently removed by the City[.]" CP 56.

Cottonwood trees are prone to SLD. "It is a phenomenon that has been observed and written about for decades, and is common knowledge among arborists and tree care professionals." CP 968. It "is especially common in cottonwoods." CP 970. It occurs during hot summer afternoons when cottonwood trees transpire heavily to compensate for the heat, and the weight of the added water in the tree limbs, along with the weight of the leaves are too much for the limb to hold, causing large diameter limbs to suddenly break off and fall to the ground, even without any wind. CP 42 & 210-11.

While SLD has been a matter of common knowledge among arborists for a long time, the average person is unaware

of the phenomenon. CP 956 & 994. The phenomenon cannot be directly observed because the tree outwardly appears to be normal and healthy. CP 42, 251, 956 & 994.

The City knew about SLD in cottonwood trees, both as a general proposition and specifically at Idylwood Park, well before Natalicheva was injured. In 2013—four years before her injury—the City's Park Operations Supervisor, Teresa Kluver, received a call from a concerned neighbor of Idylwood Park, raising concerns about an eight-inch diameter cottonwood tree limb that had broken off and was overhanging a fence on the property boundary. CP 376. Ms. Kluver directed an arborist employed by the City, Christopher Tolonen, to remove the limb and assess the trees for other safety concerns. CP 189-90, 205-06 & 376. Mr. Tolonen confirmed that the limb fell due to SLD. CP 210-14 & 252.

In 2014—three years before Natalicheva's injury—Mr. Tolonen removed a cottonwood tree at a different park because of multiple SLD incidents. CP 43 & 214-16. In 2015—two years

before her injury—another large cottonwood limb fell at Idylwood Park, "nearly striking a park user" and prompting Mr. Tolonen to have the tree pruned. CP 378.

In 2016—the year before Natalicheva was injured—the City received an inquiry from a homeowner about a cottonwood tree growing close to her home. CP 379-80. Mr. Tolonen replied to the homeowner's inquiry, noting that cottonwood trees pose a "high risk" to children and others located below them:

The native black cottonwood that you are talking about can be problematic in the urban forest when targets are nearby in the heat of the summer there is a phenomena called sudden branch drop So, consider the area below the tree. Will there be constant occupancy like a house or a parking area or frequent occupancy like a back yard? This will lead to your risk rating of the cottonwood tree. No target — no risk. Childs [sic.] summer play area below the tree — high risk. Then, decide on a prescription for the tree. We have these trees along lake Sammamish at Idylwood park[.]

CP 379.1

¹ The quoted email is reproduced in the Appendix.

"Basic Tree Risk Assessment Forms" used by the City and Mr. Tolonen describe the area below a tree as the "target zone." CP 228-29. The target zone includes areas beneath the "drip line" of the tree, i.e., the tips of the longest branches, and extends up to 1.5 times the height of the tree. CP 53 & 228-29.

Nonetheless, the City created a recreation area in the target zone under the stand of cottonwood trees at Idylwood Park where Natalicheva was injured. When the park was originally developed, underbrush at the site was cleared and the natural environment was changed. CP 243 & 292. Grass was seeded, cultivated, and manicured in the target zone. The City irrigates the grass to keep it green. CP 657 & 663.

The City also performs "turf maintenance" in the area under the cottonwood stand. "The grass is cut and groomed ... to make it aesthetically look good[.]" CP 653. The City fertilizes, CP 654, aerates, CP 424 & 654, and thatches the turf, CP 654, and performs weed control, CP 657, and over seeding, CP 424, & 562-63. The City prevents new cottonwood trees from taking

root in the turf by removing "suckers." CP 870-72. The City keeps out any other native or invasive species from the manicured turf. CP 658-59. The City maintains a defined edge between the turf and the beach. CP 318, 325, 465, 659, 681, 930. The City also maintains a defined edge between the turf and the adjacent natural area. CP 658-59.

As a result of the City's continual efforts, the target zone under the cottonwood trees was transformed into an attractive and inviting area for picnicking and other types of recreational activities that looks like this:



CP 978.²

Without the City's continual efforts, the target zone under the cottonwood trees would not be inviting or suitable for recreational use and would look like this:

 $^{^2}$ A full-size color copy of the photograph is reproduced in the Appendix.



CP 977.³

Despite creating and maintaining a recreational area in the target zone under the cottonwood trees, the City never performed a "risk rating" or assessment like the one the City's arborist, Mr. Tolonen, recommended to the homeowner concerned about cottonwood trees on her property. CP 19. After the 2013 SLD incident involving a cottonwood tree at Idylwood Park, a

³ A full-size color copy of the photograph is reproduced in the Appendix.

reasonable park owner would have engaged a qualified arborist to conduct a thorough risk assessment and recommend measures to ameliorate the risk to park users in the target zone. CP 958 & 994-95. However, there is no evidence the City performed any assessment or took any remedial action in the intervening time before Natalicheva was injured. CP 224, 254-55, 257-58, 263-64 & 401-02.

Just over two weeks after Natalicheva's injury, another cottonwood tree limb in Idylwood Park broke due to SLD. CP 537-41. The limb came crashing down on a picnic table on an adjacent property, where a family had been picnicking earlier in the day. *Id.* This incident finally prompted the City to conduct a risk assessment of the trees in the park. CP 256-59 & 404-05. As a result of the assessment, the City removed 30 trees that posed a danger to park users. CP 259-61, 437 & 536. Eighteen of the trees were removed from the stand of cottonwood trees where Natalicheva was injured. CP 56.

B. A large limb from a cottonwood tree fell due to Summer Limb Drop and hit Svetlana Natalicheva while she was using the recreation area that the City created and maintained, causing her to suffer severe and permanently disabling injuries.

On August 10, 2017, Natalicheva took her two children to Idylwood Park to meet a friend and her friend's children, so the children could go swimming together. CP 983-84 & 988-89. The Park was very crowded when they arrived. CP 984 & 989.

Natalicheva and her friend wanted to sit close to the water, so they could keep an eye on their children while the children were swimming. CP 989. They also wanted to sit in the shade so they would be protected from the hot sun. *Id.* Near the beach, there is only one shady area, created by a stand of cottonwood trees. *Id.* The location where they sat is depicted by the blue marking on the following photograph:



CP 992.⁴ Others were sitting in the same area, including mothers with babies. CP 984 & 989.

While they were watching their children, Natalicheva and her friend heard a very loud cracking noise. CP 984. They looked up and it appeared that an entire tree was starting to fall down. *Id.* They tried to run away, but a large limb from the tree hit Natalicheva on the head. *Id.* She lay on the ground bleeding and

⁴ A full-size color copy of the photograph is reproduced in the Appendix.

unresponsive. CP 984-85. Someone had to lift the tree limb off her. CP 985. A nurse who was visiting the park turned her on her side so she would not choke on the blood in her mouth. CP 985. Her children were traumatized at the sight of her in this condition. *Id*.

Natalicheva was taken to the emergency room, where she underwent a craniotomy to stop internal bleeding. CP 982. She "suffered a traumatic brain injury affecting her speech, multiple skull fractures, a C7 spinal facet fracture, a left acromion fracture, left brachial plexus injury, avulsion of C7, C8, and T1 roots, a C5 and C6 injury with post injury scarring, a 2nd metacarpal fracture, retrobulbar hematoma, partial 6th cranial nerve palsy with horizontal diplopia, nasal fracture, T6 compression fracture, bilateral lung contusion, left lateral clivus fracture, left temporal lobe epidural hematoma, among other injuries." CP 981-82. After further surgery and rehabilitation, she still "has no meaningful use of her left hand, wrist, elbow or shoulder." CP 982.

The cottonwood limb that hit Natalicheva in the recreation area created by the City fell due to SLD. CP 225-26, 235, 292, 956 & 994. The only reason that Natalicheva was in the target zone of the cottonwood tree is because the City created and maintained the area to be appealing to park visitors like her. CP 992. Had the City not transformed the natural condition of the target zone, Natalicheva would not have been able to use the area and she would not have been injured. CP 977.

C. Without reaching the issue of the City's negligence, the superior court dismissed Natalicheva's claims and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

Natalicheva and her husband filed suit against the City to recover for her injuries. CP 1-7. The City denied liability and alleged an affirmative defense based on the recreational use statute, RCW 4.24.210. CP 13. The City subsequently moved for summary judgment on its affirmative defense. CP 15-35. The City admitted that the condition of its park was dangerous and that it failed to warn park users of the danger. However, the City argued the relevant "condition" that injured Natalicheva

consisted solely of the falling tree limb, and that this condition was not "artificial," "latent," or "known" within the meaning of the limitation on recreational use immunity in RCW 4.24.210(4)(a). *Id*.

Natalicheva responded to the City's motion, first by noting that the City's characterization of the relevant "condition" was too narrow, and that the injury causing condition must instead be viewed in relation to the surrounding circumstances. CP 110-40. Viewed properly, the relevant condition consists of a recreational area in the target zone of cottonwood trees that are prone to SLD. *Id.* Natalicheva argued that this condition was both artificial and known because it was created and maintained by the City rather than being left in its natural condition. *Id*. She further argued that this condition was latent because ordinary recreational users cannot see, and are generally unaware of, SLD or the target zone that exists beneath cottonwood trees and the trees outwardly appear to be normal and healthy. *Id*.

The superior court accepted the City's characterization of the relevant condition as the falling tree limb in isolation from the recreational area created and maintained in the target zone. The court then granted summary judgment in the City's favor on grounds that the limb was not "artificial." RP 20:8-14. The Court of Appeals affirmed on the same grounds as the superior court. *Natalicheva*, 22 WL 896349, at *2-3. Neither court ruled on the City's arguments that the condition was not latent and not known, and neither court reached the issue of the City's negligence.

ARGUMENT

A. Overview of landowner liability to public invitees, recreational use immunity, and the limits of such immunity.

Landowners owe a duty to exercise ordinary care to keep their property in a reasonably safe condition for invitees. *Van Dinter*, 121 Wn.2d at 41-42. Invitees include those who are either expressly or impliedly invited onto the premises for some purpose for which the premises are held open to the public, such

as patrons of municipal parks. *McKinnon v. Washington Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 68 Wn.2d 644, 650-51, 414 P.2d 773 (1966)
(recognizing public invitees); *Swanson v. McKain*, 59 Wn. App. 303, 313, 796 P.2d 1291 (1990), *rev. denied*, 116 Wn.2d 1007 (1991) (noting patrons of municipal parks are public invitees).

The reason for imposing a duty of ordinary care with respect to these public invitees is that the landowner, "by his arrangement of the premises or other conduct, has led the entrant to believe that the premises were intended to be used by visitors, as members of the public, for the purpose which the entrant was pursuing, and that reasonable care was taken to make the place safe for those who enter for that purpose." *McKinnon*, 68 Wn.2d at 649.

To encourage landowners to open up land for recreational purposes, the Legislature enacted the recreational use statute, which limits landowners' liability toward a subset of public invitees consisting of recreational users. RCW 4.24.200-.210; *Lockner v. Pierce Cty.*, 190 Wn.2d 526, 532, 415 P.3d 246 (2018)

(noting the statute creates the classification of "recreational users"). Under the statute, landowners have a form of immunity and can generally avoid liability for negligently causing injury to such recreational users. RCW 4.24.210(1). In this way, the statute creates "an exception to Washington's premise liability law regarding public invitees." *Camicia*, 179 Wn.2d at 694.⁵

However, landowners' immunity from their normal common-law liability is subject to several express limitations set forth in the text of the recreational use statute. RCW 4.24.210(1), (4)(a) & (4)(b). The limitation pertinent to this case states that "[n]othing in [the statute] shall prevent the liability of a landowner or others in lawful possession and control for injuries sustained to users by reason of a known dangerous artificial latent condition for which warning signs have not been conspicuously posted." RCW 4.24.210(4)(a). Of course, a landowner who is not entitled to immunity is not automatically

-

 $^{^{5}}$ RCW 4.24.200 and .210 are reproduced in the Appendix.

or strictly liable. A recreational user still must prove public invitee status, negligence, causation, and damages as well as overcome any other landowner defenses.

B. The Court of Appeals' definition of the relevant "condition" as a falling tree limb in isolation from the recreational area created and maintained by the City in the target zone of trees prone to Summer Limb Drop conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Van Dinter, Ravenscroft,* and *Davis*, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Under the limit on recreational use immunity in RCW 4.24.210(4)(a), the relevant "condition" is "the specific object or instrumentality that caused the injury, viewed in relation to other external circumstances in which the instrumentality is situated or operates." *Ravenscroft*, 136 Wn.2d at 921 (citing *Van Dinter*); accord Davis, 144 Wn.2d at 617 (quoting *Ravenscroft*). "Identifying the condition that caused [the plaintiff's] injury is a factual determination." *Van Dinter*, 121 Wn.2d at 44. On summary judgment, the court must adopt the non-moving party's view of the injury-causing condition as long as it is supported by the facts. *Id.* at 43-44.

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