FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/24/2022 3:27 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100947-0 Court of Appeals, Division I No. 823299 King Co. Superior Court Cause No. 19-2-32361-2

SVETLANA NATALICHEVA and GREGORY GRIDIN, and the marital community composed thereof,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF REDMOND, WASHINGTON, a municipal corporation,

Defendant-Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jessica B. Jensen, WSBA #29353 Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent City of Redmond OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, PLLC 901 5th Ave, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98164 Tel: 206-447-7000/Fax: 206-447-0215

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

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Natalicheva asks this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(a)(1) and (4). These provisions require Natalicheva to establish that Division I's decision either is "in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court" or "involves an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(a)(1), (4). Natalicheva has not established either proposition.

1. <u>Natalicheva fails to identify any conflict with any decision of this Court.</u>

Regarding RAP 13.4(a)(1), Natalicheva has not identified any conflict with this court's precedent. Although Natalicheva purports to identify three such conflicts, all three are simply different permutations of her contention that Division I's decision was wrong. None of these points establish any inconsistency with this court's decisions, let alone a conflict that would warrant review. The City addresses each in turn below.

a. Division I followed this court's precedent in defining the relevant condition.

Under the RUIS, landowners who allow members of the public to use their land for recreational purposes free of charge are generally immune from liability. RCW 4.24.210; *Davis v. State*, 144 Wn.2d 612, 616, 30 P.3d 460 (2001). It is undisputed that the City permits members of the public to use Idylwood Park for recreational purposes and does not impose a fee for such use. Natalicheva thus does not dispute that the RUIS governs this action.

Instead, she premises her petition on a narrow exception, which applies "when the entrant sustains injuries 'by reason of a known dangerous artificial latent condition for which warning signs have not been conspicuously posted." *Van Dinter v. City of Kennewick*, 121 Wn.2d 38, 42–43, 846 P.2d 522 (1993) (quoting RCW 4.24.210). To invoke that exception, Natalicheva must prove four elements, including that she was injured by an "artificial" condition. *Davis*, 144 Wn.2d at 616.

In this analysis, the injury-causing condition is the "specific object or instrumentality that caused the injury, viewed in relation to other external circumstances in which the instrumentality is situated or operates." Ravenscroft v. Wash. Water Power Co., 136 Wn.2d 911, 921, 969 P.2d 75 (1998). The specific object or instrumentality that caused Natalicheva's injuries was a fallen tree limb. This point is confirmed by comparison to *Ravenscroft*, where an outboard motor struck a submerged tree stump, which caused the motor to flip into the boat and injure the plaintiff. Despite a lengthy discussion about the external circumstances that contributed to the incident, this court clarified that the "specific object causing the injury in this case was a tree stump." Id. at 921. Likewise, here, although Natalicheva discusses at length such external circumstances as the maintenance of a grassy area and the proximity to a swimming beach, the specific injury-causing object was the tree limb.

While not disputing that the limb was a natural condition, Natalicheva claims that Division I should have defined the "injury-causing condition" as the tree together with a maintained grassy area. As Division I noted, however, that interpretation would conflict with this court's opinion in *Davis*.

The plaintiff in *Davis* was injured when he rode his motorcycle over a steep drop-off in a sand dune. *Davis*, 144 Wn.2d at 614. He claimed that he was following a trail of tire tracks, which led him to the drop-off. *Id.* at 614–15.

Although the drop-off was uncharacteristic for the area (*id*. at 615), it was a naturally occurring condition. *Id*. at 617. The plaintiff argued, however, that "the tracks leading to the drop-off were a human made alteration of the natural contours of the sand dunes that became part of the injury-causing condition, transforming it into an artificial condition." *Id*. Thus, in the plaintiff's argument, the specific injury-causing object was the drop-off, the tire tracks were "external circumstances," and

"taken together" they amounted "to an artificial condition." *Id.* at 618.

This court disagreed. Although it agreed that the tire tracks were artificial, it did "not find the tracks and the drop-off so closely related as to create a single artificial condition for purposes of qualifying as an exception to the recreational use immunity statutes." *Id.* at 617. "While these tracks may have altered the natural condition of the flat open space, *they did not physically alter the natural condition of the drop-off to such an extent as to transform it from a natural state to an artificial one." <i>Id.* at 618–19 (emphasis added). This court therefore affirmed the dismissal of the plaintiff's claims on summary judgment. *Id.* at 615, 619.

In so holding, the court distinguished *Ravenscroft*, where external circumstances resulted in an outboard motor striking a tree stump. The landowner there was a power company, WWP, which had created the waterway in question through its damming

operations. *Id.* By raising the water level over the years, WWP caused trees to become surrounded by water. *Id.* at 916. The trees died, and WWP eventually cut down the snags, leaving the stumps. *Id.* Compounding the hazard it had created, WWP artificially maintained the water level at its maximum height throughout the boating season. *Id.* With the water at that level, the tops of the tree stumps were below the water surface. *Id.*

In a 6–3 decision, this court held that the condition that caused the plaintiff's injury was an artificial one:

The injury-causing condition was created by WWP cutting down trees, leaving stumps near the middle of a water channel, then raising the river to a level which covered the stumps. This condition was contrived through human effort, not by natural causes detached from human effort. The condition was therefore artificial.

Id. at 923–24.

Three years later, in *Davis*, this court distinguished *Ravenscroft*, explaining that "the defendant's artificial control of

the watercourse was an external circumstance that *physically* altered the condition of the tree stump so as to transform the condition into a hidden and dangerous one." Davis, 144 Wn.2d at 618 (emphasis added). The court explained that the "artificial condition in Ravenscroft was unique." Id. "The artificial external circumstance was so closely related to the natural object that it completely altered the natural condition of that object." Id. (emphasis added).

In an opinion joined by eight justices and concurred in separately by a ninth, this court explained that *Ravenscroft* addressed a rare situation and will seldom be helpful in other cases:

This close relationship between a specific injury-causing condition (the tree stump) and an artificial external *circumstance* (the shifting of the water level and watercourse so as to stump) submerge the is rare. Consequently, analysis the in Ravenscroft will rarely apply to other situations.

Id. (emphasis added).

Davis controlled Division I's decision here. As in Davis, the specific injury-causing object (here the tree limb, there the drop-off) was a natural one. Like the plaintiff in Davis, Natalicheva argued that an artificial external circumstance (here the maintained grass, there the tire tracks) should be considered part of the injury-causing condition.

But, like the plaintiff in *Davis*, the only relationship she can identify between the external circumstance and the injury-causing object is that the former drew her toward the latter. In *Davis*, the tire tracks invited motorcycle riders toward the drop-off. Here, Natalicheva claims that the maintained grassy area invited visitors to sit under the trees.

The photographs offered by Natalicheva, to contrast the maintained area with an area that has been left in its natural state, do not alter the analysis. The most that can be made of this comparison is that someone is more likely to be under the tree

when a limb falls if the area is maintained than if it is overgrown with vegetation. But the same was true in *Davis*: a motorcyclist was more likely to encounter the drop-off with tracks leading to it than if the dune was in its natural state.

As in *Davis*, the artificial external circumstance here "did not physically alter the natural condition of the [tree limb] to such an extent as to transform it from a natural state to an artificial one." *Id.* at 618–19. The fact that Natalicheva and her companions were sitting in a maintained grassy area "does not alter the fact the [tree limb] itself remained in its natural state." *Id.* at 619. "The relationship between the [grassy area] and the [tree limb] is more attenuated than the relationship between the stump and the artificial control of the watercourse and water level in *Ravenscroft*." *Id.*

Natalicheva does not even attempt to argue that there was a close relationship between the tree limb and the grassy area, let alone that the maintenance of the grassy area somehow "transformed" the tree limb into an unnatural state. Instead, she argues that "the recreational area is causally related to—and indeed is inseparable from—the target zone where falling limbs can injure park patrons."

But Natalicheva was injured by the falling limb, not by the "target zone." And *Davis* explained that the "rare" result in *Ravenscroft* requires proof that the external circumstance transformed "the natural state of the specific object causing [the plaintiff's] injuries." *Davis*, 144 Wn.2d at 618. Because Natalicheva has not identified any action by the City that transformed the natural state of the tree limb, she cannot establish that she was injured by an artificial condition.

This case is also unlike *Van Dinter*. The plaintiff there injured his eye when he ran into the antenna of a caterpillar-shaped playground equipment. *Van Dinter*, 121 Wn.2d at 40. The equipment was installed inside a gravel-covered area that

³ Petition for Review at 24–25.

was bordered by wooden beams. *Id*. The plaintiff claimed that the gravel and beams provided an inadequate buffer around the caterpillar. *Id*. at 41.

That analysis is inapposite here because there was no dispute in *Van Dinter* that the specific injury-causing object, a metal rod protruding from playground equipment, was artificial. *Van Dinter* did not address the situation presented here, where the specific injury-causing object was a natural one, and the plaintiff argues that external circumstances transformed it into an artificial condition.

The analysis applicable to that situation was established in *Ravenscroft* and refined in *Davis*. Division I applied that analysis correctly in affirming the dismissal of Natalicheva's claims.

b. Division I properly concluded that Natalicheva was not injured by an artificial condition.

The above analysis forecloses Natalicheva's second contention: that the injury-causing condition must be considered artificial.⁴ Natalicheva's entire argument on this point is that this court found both the tire tracks in *Davis* and the alterations to the water level in *Ravenscroft* to be artificial. What Natalicheva overlooks is that *Davis* concluded the plaintiff was not injured by an artificial condition, for the reasons discussed above. Again, the key factor that distinguished *Davis* from *Ravenscroft* was that the tire tracks did not transform "the natural state of the specific object causing [the plaintiff's] injuries." *Davis*, 144 Wn.2d at 618.

Division I's decision comports with this precedent because

Natalicheva presents no evidence that any "human agency"⁵

⁴ Petition for Review at 29.

⁵ Petition for Review at 20.

transformed the tree limb—the specific object causing her injuries—in any way. Division I was thus bound to follow *Davis* and conclude that Natalicheva was not injured by an artificial condition. That result did not conflict with any prior decision of this court.

c. Division I followed this court's precedent regarding burden of proof.

Natalicheva likewise fails to show that Division I's discussion of the burden of proof conflicted with any prior decision of this court. As Division I explained, the City bore the burden of proving that the RUIS applied and, once the City made that showing, the burden shifted to Natalicheva to show that an exception applied. *Natalicheva*, *supra* at *1. Natalicheva claims that this conflicted with this court's decision in *Camicia v*. *Howard S. Wright Const. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 693, 317 P.3d 987 (2014).

But *Camicia* did not address the exception for artificial conditions, or any other exception in the RUIS. The question

presented there was whether the I-90 bicycle trail could be protected by the RUIS when it was open to the public primarily for transportation but was also used incidentally for recreation. *Id.* at 697. In that context, this court stated that "recreational use immunity is an affirmative defense" and that "the landowner asserting it carries the burden of proving entitlement to immunity under the statute." *Id.* (citing *Olpinski v. Clement*, 73 Wn.2d 944, 950, 442 P.2d 260 (1968)). *Camicia* did not purport to address who has the burden to prove exceptions.

Division I relied on this court's opinion in *Jewels v. City* of *Bellingham*, 183 Wn.2d 388, 394, 353 P.3d 204 (2015). There, this court held that when recreational-use immunity applies, the RUIS "creates an exception where *an injured party may overcome* this immunity by showing" one of three exceptions. *Id.* (emphasis added) (quoting *Davis*, 144 Wn.2d at 616). Division I interpreted this language as providing that, once the defendant carries its burden of showing that the RUIS applies,

the burden is on the plaintiff to "overcome" RUIS immunity by establishing an exception. *Natalicheva*, *supra* at *1. Division I properly followed *Jewels*, which addressed exceptions directly, rather than *Camicia*, which did not address exceptions at all.

In any event, this would not be a good case to address the burden of proof relating to exceptions because Natalicheva has not shown that returning the burden to the City, to disprove the exception, would have made any difference. The exception requires proof of four elements: (1) the condition was known; (2) the condition was dangerous; (3) the condition was artificial; and (4) the condition was latent. *Davis*, 144 Wn.2d at 616. "If *one* of the four elements is not present, a claim cannot survive summary judgment." *Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, even supposing that the burden was on the City to prove that the exception did not apply, it would meet this burden by showing that any one of the elements was not met.

Under that standard, the City proved on summary judgment that the injury-causing condition was not artificial, and thus the third element could not be met. The essential facts are undisputed: the tree limb was a natural object that fell because of natural causes; the City maintained the grassy area below the tree limb; and such maintenance did not transform the tree limb in any way. Under *Davis*, these facts prove that the exception does not apply. *Davis*, 144 Wn.2d at 618. Summary judgment was thus required regardless of who had the burden of proof.

Natalicheva therefore fails to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. <u>Natalicheva fails to identify an issue of substantial public interest.</u>

As for RAP 13.4(b)(4), it is unclear how Natalicheva believes this matter triggers a substantial public interest. This Court identified "a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest" in *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). There, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney had

circulated a memorandum to all Pierce County Superior Court judges. *Id.* at 575. The memorandum established the Prosecuting Attorney's position on a matter relating to sentencing. *Id.* at 575–76. In a published holding, Division II described the letter as an improper *ex parte* communication. *Id.* at 576. Noting that this holding had "the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County" after the date of the letter, this Court granted review because of "the sweeping implications of the Court of Appeals decision." *Id.* at 577–78.

Natalicheva identifies no such sweeping implications here. To the contrary, she contends that under her theory of landowner liability, landowners "would rarely be subject to liability for SLD...."

Natalicheva's sole basis for invoking RAP 13.4(b)(4) is that Division I considered her proposed holding to be "contrary to the express public policy underlying" the RUIS. *Natalicheva*,

⁶ Petition for Review at 34.

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